Filed 07-14-2021

Page 1 of 37

FILED 07-14-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

## **STATE OF WISCONSIN**

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT

## Appeal No. 2020AP000029-CR

## STATE OF WISCONSIN

Plaintiff-Respondent

V.

WESTLEY D. WHITAKER

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner

## **BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER**

Christopher M. Zachar Attorney at Law State Bar No. 1054010

Zachar Law Office, LLC 115 5<sup>th</sup> Ave. So. Ste. 420 La Crosse, WI 54601 (608) 518-3224

Attorney for the Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner

# **

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. Does it violate the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution and Article I Section 18 of the Wisconsin Constitution to consider a defendant's religious identity and impose a sentence intended to deter crime solely within his religious community?

The Circuit Court and the Court of Appeals held that it does not.

2. If a sentencing court may consider a defendant's religious association to deter other members of a religious community does the "reliable nexus" test require congruity between the offense and the activity protected by the First Amendment?

The Circuit Court and Court of Appeals held that inaction by Amish elders in response to childhood sexual offenses was sufficiently related to allow consideration of Mr. Whitaker's former membership in the Amish church and association with the Amish community.

3. Does the sentencing objective of protecting the public permit a sentencing court to increase a sentence imposed on a defendant to send a message to identified third parties that they should alter their behavior in the future apart from the objectives of general deterrence?

The Circuit Court did not address this question. The Court of Appeals held that encouraging police reporting of intrafamilial child sexual assault within a religious community was a valid application of the public protection sentencing objective.

## POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

By accepting review, this Court has indicated that oral argument and publication are appropriate.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On January 25, 2019, at the age of twenty-five, Westley Whitaker pleaded no contest to a single sexual assault he committed against his then twelve-year-old sister when he was fourteen years old. (1; 29). Mr. Whitaker was raised in a conservative Amish community, and during the period of his offenses he and his family were members of the Amish church in Vernon County, Wisconsin. (54:14; App. 154). When he was between the ages of twelve and fourteen, Mr. Whitaker committed a series of sexual assaults against his younger sisters. (1). Elders in the Amish community were aware of this conduct, but did not report it to secular authorities. (54:16; App. 156). Around the time that Mr. Whitaker turned fourteen years old, the offenses stopped without further intervention (54:17; App. 157). Mr. Whitaker has not sexually offended since his early adolescence. (54:17; App. 157).

Mr. Whitaker's education was limited to attending a conservative Amish primary school through the eighth grade. (54:15-16; 19:13; App. 155-6). Children in his community were forbidden from discussing their sexuality or sexual development. (54:15; 19:11; App. 155). Feelings of sexual desire, and masturbation were viewed as sins by the elders. (54:15; 19:11; App. 155). Mr. Whitaker did not receive any sexual education in school, or counseling at the time of his offenses. (54:15-16; App. 155-6).

#### **Confession and Criminal Complaint**

Mr. Whitaker and several other members of his immediate family left the Amish church after he reached adulthood (19:11). When Mr. Whitaker was twenty-five years old, one of his sisters began seeing a counselor to address emotional trauma stemming from the sexual assaults. (54:13; 21:2; App. 153). She contacted Mr. Whitaker and urged him to confess to sexually assaulting her when the two were children. (54:13; 21:2; App. 153). Mr. Whitaker confessed to Vernon County investigator Matt Sutton by telephone. (54:13-14; 21:2; App. 153-4). Following his confession Mr. Whitaker was charged with six counts of First Degree Sexual Assault of a child, all for acts he committed against his sisters when he

was between twelve and fourteen years old. (1). When he was charged, Mr. Whitaker was twenty-five years old, living in the State of New York, and working full time as a construction worker. (54:9; 23; App. 149). Mr. Whitaker is the sole caregiver for his young son. (19:12; 54:21; App. 161). Beyond his conviction in this case, Mr. Whitaker has never been arrested, charged, or convicted of any offense as a juvenile or adult. (54:21; App. 161).

On January 25, 2019, Mr. Whitaker pleaded no contest to one count of First Degree Sexual Assault of a Child, with the remainder of the information being dismissed but read-in. (29; App. 138-9). Judge Darcy Rood ordered a pre-sentence investigation (hereafter "PSI"), and Mr. Whitaker remained free pending sentencing. (55). The PSI recommended withholding sentence and placing Mr. Whitaker on probation for three years, with thirty days of jail as a condition of probation. (19:24). COMPAS scores included in the PSI noted that Mr. Whitaker was low risk for both violent and general recidivism. (19:21). No specific conditions of supervision were recommended in the PSI. (19:24).

# Sentencing and exemption from sex offender registration

Mr. Whitaker was evaluated by Licensed Clinical Social Worker William Kelly<sup>1</sup> before sentencing to determine his risk of sexually reoffending, and submitted a written risk assessment to the sentencing court. (21; 23). The assessment concluded that Mr. Whitaker would have scored low risk for sexually reoffending at the end of his adolescence, and when he was sentenced, posed no more risk of sexually offending than any other twenty-five-year-old male. (21:3-4). Mr. Kelly concluded that Mr. Whitaker displayed no traits consistent with psychopathy. (21:4). The assessment noted that Mr. Whitaker suffered emotional turmoil because of his childhood offenses, and was motivated to report his offense to police with the hope that it would help his sisters heal. (21:2). Despite being criminally charged, Mr. Whitaker told Mr. Kelly that he did not regret confessing, and believed that his decision to do so was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Mr. Kelly is a diplomate in sex therapy and a clinical member of the Association for the Treatment of Sexual Abusers. (21:5).

best for his family. (21:2). Mr. Whitaker submitted the sexual risk assessment in support of a motion to relieve him from sex offender reporting requirements. (20). District Attorney Gaskell did not object to exempting Mr. Whitaker from sex offender registration. (54:5; App. 145). Immediately before sentencing, the trial court granted Mr. Whitaker's motion to exempt him from sex offender reporting requirements, holding:

"Mr. Whitaker committed these very serious offenses, but he was between the age of 12 to 14. He was in an Amish community. And...I don't believe he poses a risk. I believe...this was a juvenile, hormone-driven [behavior] in ... a community and [in] a family that wasn't protecting its daughters." (29; 54:5-6; 31; App. 6, ¶ 11).

Relying on the entire record and the sexual risk assessment, the trial court explicitly concluded that at the time of sentencing Mr. Whitaker presented "zero" risk of reoffending. (54:30; App. 170). The trial court also found that Mr. Whitaker did not have any ongoing rehabilitative needs, stating:

"I don't believe that Mr. Whitaker is a threat to the public. I don't believe he needs rehabilitation." (54:31; App. 171).

The trial court found that Mr. Whitaker was remorseful and sincere, but determined, in part, that the gravity of the offense was too serious to justify a sentence of probation, and imposed a bifurcated term of imprisonment consisting of two years of initial confinement and two years of extended supervision. (54:30-32; App. 170-172).

## Deterrence intended to influence the behavior of Amish elders

During sentencing the trial court repeatedly referenced Mr. Whitaker's childhood association with the Amish community. (54:29, 31; App. 169). On multiple occasions, the trial court stated its intent to send a message to elders in the Amish community by imprisoning Mr. Whitaker for his childhood offenses, hoping that the sentence would deter others within the Amish faith. (54:29-32; App. 169-172). The trial court stated, in part:

"I believe the relevant Gallion<sup>2</sup> factors are punishment, and also deterrence of others, hopefully deterrence of others in the Amish community. I happen to live in the midst of an Amish community. I purchased an Amish house. They're my neighbors.

And sexual assault of sisters is not something that is accepted. I understand that it happens often and it is dealt with in the community. And that's not sufficient. That's not sufficient when it is a one-time thing and not when the women, daughters, the wives in the Amish community are not empowered to come forward. They do not have the ability because of their upbringing. They are discouraged from bringing these issues forward.

So I believe deterrence – now I hope it's not deterrence of reporting them. I hope it's the deterrence of the community from permitting their sons, their husbands to engage in this. But generally, in my experience, it's the sons." (54:29-30; App. 169-70).

Shortly thereafter the trial court once more stated its intent to deter the Amish community:

"[E]very Amish young man is raised in that type of community, in that situation, and you aren't seeing them all sexually assault their sisters night after night after night...I'm hoping that this sentence deters, as I said, the community." (54:31; App. 171).

One final time, the trial court clarified that it intended to deter members of the Amish community, expressing that the court hoped that elders would take note of Mr. Whitaker's sentence:

> "I think that is -a prison sentence is the only way to send the message to Mr. Whitaker and to the community that this is totally unacceptable behavior. And perhaps it now can help the family heal. And I hope that the elders in the community pay attention to this." (54:32; App. 172).

#### **Post-Conviction Motion and Order Denying Relief**

Mr. Whitaker immediately moved for a stay of the sentence pending post-conviction litigation, and the trial court granted his motion. (26). On August 16, 2019, Mr. Whitaker

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Gallion is misspelled as "Galleon" in the sentencing transcript.

filed a post-conviction motion alleging that the deterrent objective improperly considered his faith and religious association with the Amish community.<sup>3</sup> (35). The trial court stated at the post-conviction hearing that it had not considered Mr. Whitaker's religious beliefs, but focused its attention on his ties to the Amish community:

> "[M]y concern was the – not any acceptance of this behavior, but the failure – or the desire to deal with this issue when it occurred in the community. And that – I want women to be able to come forward out of that community...this is not the first case I've had with someone from the Amish community. And the desire of the elders to keep it within the community and which means, you know, wouldn't be before any of our judicial system." (61:9-10).

Noting that it intended to focus deterrence on the Amish community, rather than their religious beliefs, the trial court concluded that Mr. Whitaker's constitutional rights were not violated. (61:14). The trial court denied Mr. Whitaker's post-conviction motion and signed a written order incorporating its oral rulings on December 30, 2019. (44; App. 140).

#### **Court of Appeals decision**

Mr. Whitaker appealed from the written order denying his post-conviction motion and on February 4, 2021, the District IV Court of Appeals issued a published decision on Mr. Whitaker's appeal affirming sentence and the postconviction motion on all grounds. (App. 100).<sup>4</sup>

The Court of Appeals assumed without deciding that the trial court considered a prohibited factor at sentencing, specifically Mr. Whitaker's religious beliefs and association with the Amish community at the time of the offenses. (App. 102, *Whitaker*, 396 Wis. 2d 557, ¶ 4). On review the Court of Appeals held that the objective of encouraging Amish elders to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Mr. Whitaker also alleged that the adult term of imprisonment violated the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments for a youthful offender who would have been subject to a maximum of thirty days punitive confinement if adjudicated as a juvenile, and that the trial court's explanation of the bifurcated sentence did not satisfy *State v. Gallion*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> State v. Whitaker, 2021 WI App 17, 396 Wis. 2d 557, 957 N.W.2d 561.

report sexual abuse between children in their community was a form of general deterrence. (App. 116; *Id.* ¶ 33). This general deterrent objective was intended to apply solely to the Amish community. (App. 116; *Id.* ¶ 33). Since Mr. Whitaker was not at risk of sexually offending in the future, the Court of Appeals held that specific deterrence did not apply to him. (App. 116; *Id.* ¶ 33).

While the Court of Appeals concluded that the trial court properly attempted to deter sexual assault within the Amish community, it also held that the deterrent goal was better characterized as considering the rights of the public at sentencing. (App. 116-17; *Id.* ¶¶ 33-34). Specifically, the Court of Appeals noted that the rights of the public included the right of Amish children to be protected from sexual assault, permitting sentencing objectives aimed at increasing cooperation between Amish elders and secular authorities. (App. 116-19; *Id.* ¶¶ 33-36).

"One basis for this approach was the apparent view that a prison sentence is needed in part to teach or remind adults in the Amish community that a potential prison sentence awaits a man who, as a boy, sexually assaulted a child, but who avoided involvement in the juvenile justice system because his delinquent conduct was not adequately addressed while he was younger than 17." (App. 118-19; *Id.* ¶ 36).

The Court of Appeals echoed a concern expressed by the trial court, that a prison sentence may have the opposite effect, and "cause members of the Amish community to *refrain* from alerting authorities to child sexual assaults, to avoid potential prison sentences," but ultimately accepted the trial court's sentencing rationale. (App. 114; *Id.* ¶ 28).

Relying on a combined reading of *State v. J.E.B., State v. Fuerst*, and *Dawson v. Delaware*, the Court of Appeals concluded that there was a reliable nexus between Mr. Whitaker's constitutionally-protected association with the Amish church, and his offenses.

"[T]he court considered the relationship between the circumstances of the child sexual assaults – which it found were not prevented by adults with contemporaneous knowledge and not disclosed to authorities such as social

workers or police – and religious and associational rights that we assume without deciding prohibit or discourage communication with authorities about child sexual assaults under all circumstances. That is, there is a reliable nexus between the circumstances of the sexual assaults and the exercise of what we assume are constitutional rights that the sentencing court decided calls for a harsher sentence, even if the added harshness potentially infringed on those rights." [citations omitted]. (App. 126; *Id.* ¶ 48).

The Court of Appeals noted that unlike prior cases, there was not congruity between Mr. Whitaker's offenses and his association with a community of faith. (App. 126-128; *Id.* ¶¶ 49, 51). Holding that the "reliable nexus" test requires only some link to a legitimate sentencing rationale, the Court of Appeals determined that Mr. Whitaker's membership in the Amish church and community were sufficient to permit consideration of his religious association at sentencing to achieve the sentencing objective of deterring the Amish community. (App.126-27; *Id.* ¶ 49). The Court of Appeals rejected as undeveloped Mr. Whitaker's position that selecting a defendant for deterrence based solely on his religious association violates *Lemon v. Kurtzman.* (App. 128-29; *Id.* ¶¶ 52-54).

## ARGUMENT

I. A sentencing court cannot direct a deterrent objective solely to a religious community without improperly basing the objective on the defendant's constitutionally protected religious beliefs and association with a community of faith

## A. Introduction

Between 2005 and 2007, Mr. Whitaker, then a twelve to fourteen-year-old child in an Amish community, sexually assaulted his younger sisters. Elders in his religious community became aware of this conduct, but did not report it to secular authorities at the time of the offenses. Twelve years later, Mr. Whitaker appeared for sentencing on his childhood offenses as a twenty-five-year old man. The trial court concluded that Mr. Whitaker presented zero risk of reoffending, had no rehabilitative or supervisory needs, and was a stable and prosocial adult. However, the trial court sought to deter third parties in the Amish community from addressing intrafamilial sexual assaults within their religious community, and outside of the secular justice system. As a result, Mr. Whitaker was sentenced to prison with an objective that was explicitly based on his membership in a community of faith.

This appeal presents a basic conflict between the use of an individual sentence to deter others from criminal activity, and the right of a defendant to freely associate with communities of faith without being penalized for his or her religious affiliation at sentencing. In this case Mr. Whitaker was sentenced to a term of imprisonment that explicitly relied, in part, on an objective of deterring similar behavior only within the Vernon County Amish community, an objective plainly based on his childhood faith and membership in the Amish community. The first question before this Court is whether a sentencing court may ever set a sentencing objective of deterring criminal behavior solely within a religious community, without also violating the prohibition against considering a defendant's religious beliefs and association with a community of faith.

# B. A deterrent objective limited to a religious community is fundamentally inconsistent with the prohibition against considering a defendant's religious practices at sentencing

"No liberty guaranteed by our constitution is more important or vital to our society than is a religious liberty protected by the free exercise clause of the first amendment." *State v. Yoder*, 49 Wis. 2d 430, 434 (Wis. 1970). Closely related is the First Amendment right to associate with likeminded people and communities. Freedom of association with like-minded citizens is "an indispensable means of preserving other individual liberties." *Roberts v. U.S. Jaycees*, 468 U.S. 609, 618 (1984). The First Amendment to the U.S. Constitution, and Article I, Sections 3, 4, and 18 of the Wisconsin Constitution protect the right to associate within religious communities. *See e.g. Madison Teachers, Inc. v. Walker*, 2014 WI 99, ¶ 25, 358 Wis. 2d 1. For these reasons, "a circuit court may not base its sentencing decision upon the defendant's or victim's religion." *State v. Ninham*, 2011 WI 33, ¶ 96, 333 Wis. 2d 335, 797 N.W.2d 451; *See also Oyler v. Boles*, 368 U.S. 448, 456 (1962) (religion improper to consider when weighing whether to prosecute); *Wade v. U.S.*, 504 U.S. 181, 186 (1992) (religion improper factor for federal prosecutors to consider when offering leniency to cooperators); *Zant v. Stephens*, 462 U.S. 862, 885 (1983) (defendant's religion "totally irrelevant" to the sentencing process).

General deterrence has long been an acceptable sentencing objective in Wisconsin. This Court explicitly recognized deterrence to others as one of four principal sentencing objectives in State v. Gallion. 2004 WI 42, ¶ 40, 270 Wis. 2d 535, 678 N.W.2d 197. Gallion concluded that a sentencing court could properly attempt to deter others from impaired driving by imprisoning an individual defendant convicted of a similar offense. Id. ¶ 61. Subsequent cases distinguish between general and individual deterrence in Wisconsin, but consistently note that deterrence is a proper sentencing objective. See e.g. State v. Owens, 2016 WI App 32, ¶¶ 26-28, 368 Wis. 2d 265, 878 N.W.2d 736 (specific and general deterrence in reckless homicide). However, until this case, no authority has addressed whether a general deterrent objective may be directed solely to a defendant or group of people whose activities are protected by the First Amendment.

The link between the deterrent objective in this case and Mr. Whitaker's association with the Vernon County Amish community is clear. It was only Mr. Whitaker's former membership in the Amish community that made him a proper subject for influencing the behavior of Amish elders to report underage sexual activity to secular authorities, which was the explicit goal of the deterrent objective set by the sentencing court. Whether it is characterized as a form of limited general deterrence, or ensuring that the rights of the community are protected at sentencing, Mr. Whitaker received a prison sentence that explicitly relied, in part, on his constitutionally protected association with the Amish community.

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