Filed 08-03-2020

Page 1 of 38

FILED 08-03-2020 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2020AP0029-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

WESTLEY D. WHITAKER,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING RESENTENCING, ENTERED IN VERNON COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE DARCY J. ROOD, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

DANIEL J. O'BRIEN Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1018324

Assisted by: CECILIA E. DEMARCO Law Student Extern

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court did not base its sentence on Whitaker's religious beliefs or affiliation, or on the religious practices of the Amish, in violation of the First Amendment.

Whitaker argues that the trial court violated the First Amendment when it used his sentence to deter Amish religious practices because he and the victims were members of the Amish community when the crimes occurred. Whitaker's challenge lacks merit because the trial court was merely using his sentence for a secular purpose: to deter what everyone at sentencing agreed was the practice of elders in the Amish community to cover up sexual assaults committed by its members, such as Whitaker, against other members, such as his victims.

A. Whitaker must overcome the strong presumption that the sentencing court acted reasonably.

The sentencing court is presumed to have acted reasonably, and Whitaker bears the burden of proving an unreasonable or unjustifiable basis in the record for the sentence imposed. *State v. Davis*, 2005 WI App 98, ¶ 12, 281 Wis. 2d 118, 698 N.W.2d 823. The sentencing court

erroneously exercises its discretion when it "actually relies on clearly irrelevant or improper factors." *Harris*, 326 Wis. 2d 685, \P 66.

Due to this presumption of reasonableness, the burden of proving an erroneous exercise of sentencing discretion is a "heavy" one. *Harris*, 326 Wis. 2d 685, ¶ 30. Whitaker must present clear and convincing evidence that the court actually relied on improper or inaccurate factors. *Id.* ¶¶ 34–35, 60; *see State v. Loomis*, 2016 WI 68, ¶ 31, 371 Wis. 2d 235, 881 N.W.2d 749; *State v. Alexander*, 2015 WI 6, ¶¶ 2, 17, 360 Wis. 2d 292, 858 N.W.2d 662 (same).

The court actually relies on an improper factor when it pays "explicit attention" to that factor and it forms the "basis for the sentence." *Alexander*, 360 Wis. 2d 292, ¶ 25. When determining whether the sentencing court relied on an improper factor, the reviewing court "review[s] the sentencing transcript as a whole and consider[s] the allegedly improper comments in context." *State v. Williams*, 2018 WI 59, ¶ 52, 381 Wis. 2d 661, 912 N.W.2d 373.

B. The trial court properly used Whitaker's sentence as a vehicle to deter the actions of the elders in the local Amish community that it believed contributed to Whitaker's criminal conduct and discouraged his victims from coming forward.

Deterrence of others is one of the primary factors a court may consider when imposing sentence. State v. Gallion, 2004 WI 42, ¶ 40, 270 Wis. 2d 535, 678 N.W.2d 197; see id. ¶ 61 ("The court also observed that society has an interest in punishing Gallion so that his sentence might serve as a general deterrence against drunk driving."). General deterrence is widely recognized as a proper sentencing factor. United States v. Barker, 771 F.2d 1362, 1368 (9th Cir. 1985).

But deterrence should not be "the *sole* aim in imposing sentence." *Id.* at 1368.

1. The court did not sentence Whitaker for his abstract religious beliefs or religious association in violation of the First Amendment.

The trial court may not base its sentence on either the defendant's or the victim's religion, the defendant's religious beliefs, or those of the victim's family. *State v. Ninham*, 2011 WI 33, ¶¶ 90, 94, 333 Wis. 2d 335, 797 N.W.2d 451. Whitaker must prove by clear and convincing evidence that the court actually relied on his religious beliefs or association for the sentence it imposed. *Id.* ¶ 100. Whitaker acknowledges that he bears this daunting burden of proof. (Whitaker's Br. 11.)

The Constitution does not absolutely prohibit consideration of a defendant's religious beliefs or association at sentencing even though they are protected by the First Amendment. Dawson v. Delaware, 503 U.S. 159, 165 (1992). The court may not sentence a defendant merely for his abstract beliefs protected by the First Amendment. Id. at 167. The Supreme Court, however, "in *Dawson* suggested that evidence of a defendant's protected associations or beliefs would be relevant at sentencing if the Government tied that evidence to the offense of conviction or introduced it to rebut mitigating evidence." United States v. Schmidt, 930 F.3d 858, 863 (7th Cir. 2019). The defendant's protected beliefs and associations may be considered when they are relevant to proper sentencing factors. Id. at 864–66 (and cases discussed therein); see id. at 867-69 (defendant's white supremacist beliefs, coupled with his criminal record, were properly considered as evidence of his future dangerousness and lack of respect for the law); see also Ninham, 333 Wis. 2d 335, ¶ 96 (the court may consider the "unique and particularized impact" of the defendant's conduct on the victim's family).

There must be a "reliable nexus" between the crime and the defendant's religious beliefs or practices. See State v. Fuerst, 181 Wis. 2d 903, 912–13, 512 N.W.2d 243 (Ct. App. 1994) (so holding as a matter of due process). This nexus can be established even absent a "cause and effect" relationship between the crime and the defendant's religious beliefs or practices. State v. J.E.B., 161 Wis. 2d 665, 673, 469 N.W.2d 192 (Ct. App. 1991).

A parent's right to the free exercise of religion may be restricted by the State, "if it appears that parental decisions will jeopardize the health or safety of the child, or have a potential for significant social burdens." *Wisconsin v. Yoder*, 406 U.S. 205, 233–34 (1972). In *United States v. Lee*, 455 U.S. 252, 258–61 (1982), the Court rejected an Amish employer's First Amendment challenge to the mandatory collection and payment of social security taxes on the ground that the Amish faith prohibits participation in a governmental support program. *C.f. State v. Yoder*, 49 Wis. 2d 430, 437–443, 182 N.W.2d 539 (1971) (upholding a First Amendment challenge to Wisconsin's law requiring two years of compulsory high school education as applied to Amish children because the State's interest was not compelling).

Whitaker's association with the Amish community was relevant to his crimes and to the societal interest in deterring future coverups of sexual assaults in the Amish community. Whitaker acknowledges that "the intended deterrence was directed solely towards preventing sexual assault and encouraging reporting of offenses within a religious community." (Whitaker's Br. 13.)

It is especially important to note here that Whitaker does not dispute what amounts to the trial court's finding of fact that it was then a common practice of the Amish community, at least in Vernon County, to not report sexual assaults by its members against other members, opting instead to address the problem internally. (R. 54:29–30.) In his sentencing remarks, Whitaker's attorney acknowledged that "adults . . . were aware of this" while it was going on. (R. 54:16.) Whitaker "does not argue that sexual assault is an acceptable practice." (Whitaker's Br. 14 n.17.) He presumably also would agree that covering up sexual assault is not an acceptable religious practice; it is misconduct in any community that in this case happened to occur within a religious community.

In his sentencing remarks, the prosecutor discussed why it took so long for these assaults to come to light:

Is it the parents' failure to address these situations? We've dealt with these situations, Your Honor, in the past in the Amish community, where we have had sisters, daughters that have been sexually assaulted, and then they end up actually leaving the Amish community, and then it gets reported years later.

So I understand the culture surrounding the Amish, that they want to handle these situations internally. And a lot of times what they end up doing is they end up sending the people off to Ohio, is one of the treatment places that a lot of these individuals in the past have gone to.

So there's a lot of -- there's a lot of things that are going on as to why this wasn't reported, why it wasn't addressed 12 or 14 years ago.

(R. 54:8.)

In his sentencing remarks, Whitaker's attorney stated the following:

I think it's also important to note that there were adults who were aware of this conduct when it was happening. They went to their religious elders at the time, and it was recommended that the allegations remain within the community. So even when the adults had the opportunity to intervene, they chose not to and treated it -- and I've handled several sexual assault cases from the Amish community. This is not unusual. I'm sure the Court and Mr. Gaskell [the prosecutor] are well aware of that. But they treated it as is traditionally treated in the Amish, and as a result there was never any meaningful intervention even though people were aware that this happened.

(R. 54:16 (emphasis added).)

It was undisputed, therefore, that sexual assaults generally have been covered up within the Amish community in Vernon County, and Whitaker's sexual assaults in particular were covered up, having adverse impacts on Amish victims while not discouraging offenders. It was reasonable and within the scope of the trial court's sentencing discretion to use Whitaker's sentence to deter more coverups in hopes that future Amish victims will be empowered to report sexual abuse while future offenders like Whitaker will be dealt with in the juvenile justice system sooner. (R. 54:29–30.)

The court did not punish Whitaker for his religious beliefs or affiliation. Whitaker concedes that the Amish strongly forbid sexual assault. (Whitaker's Br. 15 ("[T]he record illustrates that all expressions of adolescent sexuality were heavily shunned and viewed by the elders as sins.").) Obviously, sexual abuse is not a tenet of the Amish religion. Covering up sexual assaults also is not a tenet of the Amish religion just as covering up sexual abuse by priests is not a tenet of the Catholic religion.

Obstructing the investigation of sexual assault by civil authorities is both outside the scope of religious doctrine and illegal. The imposition of a lengthy sentence on a Catholic priest convicted of sexual assault to deter other potentially abusive priests, to deter local archdioceses from covering up such conduct in the future, and to encourage other priestabuse victims to come forward, is proper. No one could seriously dispute that using an abusive priest's sentence to deter others in this fashion would be both a constitutional and an eminently reasonable secular purpose.

"Religious conduct intended to or certain to cause harm need not be tolerated under the First Amendment." Gibson v. Brewer, 952 S.W.2d 239, 248 (Mo. 1997). Liability for the tort of intentional failure to supervise clergy does not violate the First Amendment. Id. Religious beliefs are absolutely protected, but "[c]onduct remains subject to regulation for the protection of society." Cantwell v. Connecticut, 310 U.S. 296, 303–04 (1940). "The government's ability to enforce generally applicable prohibitions of socially harmful conduct, like its ability to carry out other aspects of public policy, 'cannot depend on measuring the effects of a governmental action on a religious objector's spiritual development."" Emp't Div., Dep't of Human Res. of Or. v. Smith, 494 U.S. 872, 885 (1990) (citation omitted). The government may "enforce generally applicable prohibitions of socially harmful conduct." Id. "To make an individual's obligation to obey such a law contingent upon the law's coincidence with his religious beliefs ... contradicts both constitutional tradition and common sense." *Id.* There is no "constitutional right to ignore neutral laws of general applicability." City of Boerne v. Flores, 521 U.S. 507, 513 (1997). "When the exercise of religion has been burdened in an incidental way by a law of general application, it does not follow that the persons affected have been burdened any more than other citizens, let alone burdened because of their religious beliefs." Id. at 535. Whitaker failed to prove that the trial court relied on an improper factor at sentencing: his abstract religious beliefs or association untethered to his admitted criminal conduct. It sought to deter illegal conduct that happened to occur within a religious community.

> 2. The use of Whitaker's sentence to deter future coverups of sexual assaults in the Amish community did not deny him due process.

Whitaker's challenge fits more neatly under the Fourteenth Amendment's Due Process Clause than under the

First Amendment's Establishment or Free Exercise Clause. It is unfair, a denial of due process, to consider the defendant's race, religious beliefs or religious affiliation as sentencing factors. *Zant v. Stephens*, 462 U.S. 862, 885 (1983). The pertinent issue is whether the sentencing was fair; not whether it violated the Establishment Clause. *Bates v. Sec'y, Fla. Dep't of Corrs.*, 768 F.3d 1278, 1290 (11th Cir. 2014) (and cases cited therein).

Likewise, in Wisconsin it is a denial of due process for a sentencing court to consider the defendant's religion, religious beliefs or his failure to attend church. *Alexander*, 360 Wis. 2d 292, ¶ 23; *Fuerst*, 181 Wis. 2d at 911–12; *see State v. Travis*, 2012 WI App 46, ¶ 13, 340 Wis. 2d 639, 813 N.W.2d 702 (defendants have a "constitutionally protected due process right to be sentenced upon accurate information and a fair sentencing process").

The sentencing court may consider the defendant's religious associations only if there is "some identifiable link between those associations and the crime for which the defendant was convicted." Fuerst, 181 Wis. 2d at 912. There must be a "reliable nexus" between the defendant's religious beliefs or practices and his criminal conduct. Id. at 913; see United States v. Lemon, 723 F.2d 922, 936 (D.C. Cir. 1983) (due process requires that there be an "identifiable link" between the defendant's association and the crime committed). "For example, it would be permissible for a court sentencing a defendant convicted of drug offenses to consider the defendant's religious practices as a factor at sentencing if those religious practices involve the use of illegal drugs." Fuerst, 181 Wis. 2d at 913; see id. (the presentence investigation report properly contained information about a defendant's religious history, along with his personal and social history, when it evaluated his character); State v. J.E.B., 161 Wis. 2d at 673 (proper to consider the fact that the defendant read books containing child pornography because

the crime, sexual contact with a child, paralleled the arguably protected activity); *see also State v. Betters*, 2013 WI App 85, ¶ 11, 349 Wis. 2d 428, 935 N.W.2d 249 ("[T]he mere mention of a religious element during sentencing is generally insufficient to establish a due process violation.").

There was a "reliable nexus" between Whitaker's criminal conduct and the coverup of sexual assaults in the Amish community. Whitaker all but concedes the point. (Whitaker's Br. 14–15.) "After all, if Mr. Whitaker had not been Amish, he would not have been an appropriate subject to deter sexual assault within this community, or influence the behavior of its elders." (Whitaker's Br. 14.) Correct. Whitaker was, however, a member of this particular Amish community when he committed sexual assaults against his Amish siblings and, so, he was "an appropriate subject to deter sexual assault within this community, or influence the behavior of its elders." That is what provided the nexus. That was not unfair.

Whitaker helpfully explains when there would be no nexus: "In comparison, similarly-situated offenders raised outside of the Amish community would not be subject to the same deterrence interest, and a trial court would not have as compelling of a rationale to impose a prison sentence on a secular offender." (Whitaker's Br. 15.) Precisely. The rationale for deterrence was compelling here because it involved sexual assaults committed by a member of the Amish community against other members of the Amish community, and Amish elders were aware of the activity but covered it up. That is why the trial court acted both reasonably and constitutionally when it decided to use Whitaker's sentence to deter future coverups to the detriment of future victims within this particular Amish community.

Whitaker's sentence may or may not deter future juvenile offenders like him but it could prevent future assaultive conduct from going on for so long. Whitaker's

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